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2002

glance

2002 Sales
or Royalties
(in $ millions)

$7.92

$1.84

Not material,
Cytogen began
introducing to
physicians in
November 2002

Product

ProstaScint®

Quadramet®

NMP22® BladderChek™
Combidex®

PSMA rs protein vaccine
PSMA MAb approaches
PMSA viral vector vaccine
PSA/PSMA diagnostics

PO ®

Future Potential Growth Drivers

° Fusion imaging—combining ProstaScint® images
with CT (computed tomography) or MR (magnetic
resonance) scans in a digital overlay

© Utilization of ProstaScint® scans to guide therapy
(“image-guided therapy”), to enhance therapy
targeting for treatments such as brachytherapy,
cryosurgery and external beam radiation, such
as intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT)

© New clinical data supporting the expanded and
earlier use of Quadramet® in various cancers

© Novel research supporting combination uses
with other therapies, such as chemotherapy
and bisphosphonates

° Establishing the use of Quadramet® at higher
doses to target and treat primary bone cancers

° increased marketing and sales penetration
to radiation and medical oncologists

¢ Food and Drug Administration clearance for
expanded use as an aid in diagnosis

Preclinical Phase ! Phase I! Phase (It

Market

Staging/Imaging Therapeutics
® @

Note: Combidex® received an approvable letter, subject to certain conditions, from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration

in June of 2000.

Diagnostics
®




@YTGEN proprietary and licensed products at a

Product Description Status
ProstaScint® Monoclonal antibody-based imaging agent Developed and marketed by Cytogen
(Capromab Pendetide) used to image the extent and spread of in the United States

prostate cancer

Quedramet® Skeletal targeting therapeutic radiopharma- Developed by Cytogen, based upon
(Samarium Sm-153 Lexidronam Injection) ceutical for the relief of bone pain in prostate technology licensed from Dow
and other types of cancer Chemical, marketed by Berlex

Laboratories, the U.S. affiliate of
Schering AG Germany, in the
United States

I

NMP22® ZiadderChelk™ A point-of-care, in vitro diagnostic test for Developed by Matritech, Inc., mar-

(Nuclear Matrix

Protein-22) bladder cancer keted to urologists and oncologists
by Cytogen in the United States

CYTOGEN

Proprietary and
Licensed Products

& Pipeline

About the Cover: Cancer can affect everyone, husbands and wives, sons and
daughters—families. Cytogen is committed to the discovery and development of novel
diagnostic and therapeutic tools that offer patients—and the people who depend on
them—the most advanced options possible.

The product testimonials in this annual report are composites of real life individuals who were prescribed our products. To preserve the confidentiality
of these individuals, the photographs accompanying such product testimonials are not those of actual patients but those of unrelated third parties.
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CYTOGEN

Highlights 2002

Some oF CyToGEN'S 2002 BusinESS AND PropucT DeEVELOPMENT HIGHLIGHTS INCLUDED:

Initiated studies to further define the role of ProstaScint® in image guided therapies in the first half
of 2002;

Obtained encouraging preliminary results from a large retrospective outcomes study for ProstaScint®
in the second half of 2002,

Received regulatory approval to market ProstaScint® in Canada;

Expanded Cytogen's market presence in oncology via synergistic business development initiatives
(acquired exclusive marketing rights for NMP22® BladderChek ™),

Reduced Cytogen's cash usage and focused on the Company's oncology product franchise by
restructuring and downsizing AxCell,

Advanced in vivo immunotherapeutic approaches utilizing prostate specific membrane antigen,
or PSMA through the PSMA Development Company LLC, our joint venture with Progenics
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., by:
» Initiation of a Phase | study for a therapeutic prostate cancer vaccine comprising recombinant
soluble PSMA protein and an adjuvant; and
o Reporting that a nove] PSMA antibody linked to lutetium-177, a therapeutic radionuclide,
substantially reduced tumor growth in an animal model of human prostate cancer at the
Molecular Targets and Cancer Therapeutics annual conference.

Leveraged Cytogen's novel signal transduction technology research subsidiary, AxCell Biosciences,
through research collaborations with academic and government institutions, and also established a
Scientific Advisory Board for AxCell; and

Marked the beginning of National Prostate Cancer Awareness Month in September 2002, by
launching Cytogen's second annual “Screen, Stage and Support” campaign to promote prostate cancer
education and awareness with sponsorship of a series of prostate cancer public education forums
held by the American Cancer Society.

Some 0F CyToGEN'S 2002 FiNanNCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:
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lLetter

to our

STOCKHOLDERS

StockitalileTs:

With Cyiogen's propristary and licensed preducts, sush &s ProstaSeint®. Cuadramet® and MiIP22< BladderChel °, &8
well & lelie-stege opportunities. such & Combidex®: and eur svelving development pipeling besed on prostete-speeific
membrang antigen, Cylogen has achieved & pestien et relaliively few In eur ndusiry ever aitain—a product-criven bio-
pliermaceulics) company with is own sales and marketing infragtructurs.

Todky. Cyiogen 18 fosused on maximizing the full petential of eur avallable resources. We suecessiully deveieped
andl nevigata tmss procucts tirough dhe U.S. Feod and Drug Adminisiration (OneeSeint®, ProstaScint®, and Quadramet®),
Our tn-hiouse specially seles foree is expsrienced when it comes to marketing tachmically ehellenging produets. We
esizblished several producive parmerships. and continue to aitract ackiionel in-licensing Oppertunilies besed wpen Gur
proven abilty to cevelop and marie: compler new technalogies.

Qur leng-term siralegic goal is fo brosden and acteierls our commersial epansion. Cylogen is well known for prod-
yets thet sarve the viclegic community. In e fulvre, we expect o exiERY eUr MameEling reaeh o incuds &
broader spectium of encology iargels and treaiments. Ulimately, we expect Cylogen (o évelve into ene of a handful af
biepharmaceuticel firms with & diverse procuet pertiolie developsd ihreugh streng, aciive parnerships to serve & Aumiber

Cyiegen's product development, markeiing and sales capabilifes helped postion the Compeny as the exclusive U.S.
marketing parmer for Combidex”, & novel magnetic meonants contrast agent devsleped by Magneties, ne.
i, If cleared by the FDA, we believe will help Cytogen meve aggressively infe new canesr imaging markets, Wa believe
et Comaidex has e potential to becoms a mejer product, ons that could uiimalsly resch petlents in @ varety of can-
ear merteis Including prosteis, breast and lung cancers. As witlh our ofer produets, we belivve that Combidex® will help
ereaie significant new benefits fior physicians and patients in the fight apeinst canesr.

W beleve hat cur marksted product porielie, the promise of Combidex ., and eur development pipeling. colieciively
epresernt & tremendous opperiuntly. Wiils the chellenges alead may be conslslensd significant, they ars wall within our
expanise. Strting with ProstSeinte. Cytogen has shown is abilty (o menewver produsts inte mederm medicel praciice
through & sephistieated educeiion and markeling campeign. and the skill of our speclelty sales feres. In an increasingly
competiiive pharmeceutical environment. Cytegen's merkeling and sales experiance can Help lsad to the sucsessful
launeh, sireng sarly adoption and leng-term grewih ef compisx encology Products.




We continue to explore opportunities to expand our existing and near term staging and diagnostic products into the

cancer therapeutic market. For example, we believe that ProstaScint® will play an increasingly prominent role in guiding
prostate cancer treatment, offering patients more accurate therapeutic solutions through enhanced imaging—regardless
of which therapy is selected as appropriate for an individual patient. Image-guided therapy is a role that we anticipate will
grow substantially in the future. As part of our growth strategy, Cytogen is working closely with researchers at prestigious
institutions to evaluate the use of ProstaScint® as a precision guide in IMRT (intensity modulated radiation therapy), to
improve treatment and reduce damage to surrounding tissue.

Qur prostate-specific membrane antigen, or PSMA, technology platform is another area that we believe has the potential
to accelerate our growth by providing innovative therapeutic alternatives to prostate cancer patients and their physicians.
Late last year, PSMA Development Company, LLC, a joint venture between Cytogen and Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
announced the initiation of a Phase | study for a therapeutic prostate cancer vaccine comprised of recombinant soluble
PSMA protein and an adjuvant. The PSMA Development Company, LLC is developing several new immunotherapeutic
products for prostate cancer, such as fully human monoclonal antibody-based products.

In another area, we continue to evolve research in cellular signaling through our AxCell Biosciences subsidiary. These
efforts are largely dedicated to supplying AxCell’s proprietary data and technologies to academic, government and corporate
partners in exchange for participation in discoveries that result from the application of AxCell’s intellectual property.

By giving patients more effective diagnostic and therapeutic alternatives, physicians can feel more secure in their
recommendations and patients can feel more comfortable in their treatment. As part of our commitment to the well-being
of patients, all of our products are designed to help reduce risk, minimize invasiveness and improve quality of life.
With a higher level of safety and comfort, we believe that patients who benefit from our products are better able

to plan and enjoy their lives.

Our work is exciting, dynamic and life enbancing. And for you, our
investors, we bope you share our enthusiasm for the role that Cytogen is
playing—and expects to continue to play—in

the global biopharmaceutical revolution.




In taking on the position of Chief Executive Officer, | am aware of the responsibility we have to our patients, the physi-
cians who serve them, and to our investors who continue to support our work. | remain optimistic about Cytogen, our
strategy, and the ultimate potential of our business. That has not changed since | began following the Company’s progress
nearly a decade ago.

We believe that Cytogen has made great strides in the fight against cancer, even more so over the last year. ltis a
point worth reemphasizing: In the landscape of the biopharmaceutical industry, Cytogen is one of the few companies
with marketed products that make a real difference in the lives of those patients who suffer from prostate or bladder can-
cer or who endure cancer-related bone pain. Making that difference remains our overriding commitment.

Future efforts aimed at strengthening our commitment will be driven by our market experience and our competitive
advantages in targeted technologies for cancer imaging and therapy. We will continue to carefully evaluate our investments
in research and development, and target those product areas demonstrating the greatest opportunity to generate a measur-
able return. We are dedicated to judiciously leveraging our resources to develop and market innovative products that will

create value for our investors, new tools for physicians and technicians, and new hope to the patients who depend on them.

Michael D. Becker

PRESIDENT and
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER




Focusing on

MANAGEMENT

“Consistently helping eur customers address tbe ummet meeds

of camcer patients is the surest way Jor Cylegen to build
value for its sharebolders. 10 is essemtial that all of our
efforts be directed to these ends.”

Wiiltam Goeckeier, Ph.D.

"By iudiciously leveraging our exisling capital resowrces,
we qre possed lo meel onr marketing, product and
corporale development meeds for 2003.”

Thu Dang

“Cur Jield represemiatives are very knowledgeable,
nibasigstic aud driven to build the premier resource for
encology imaging, diagmostics, and iherapemtics.”

Corey Jacklin

H T

TEAM

“The depth and breadih of € ylogen’s sciemse and lecbrology

establishes the platform frem which employess inlegrate
knowledge with aciion. these conlribulors rualize 1bol
sweess §s @ comsequence, nol o goal.”

Deborash Kaminsky

Vit o bRbsTDD NG

BUSINFRSS DFEVEI O MENT

"l is tewly rewarding to be associated with @ caring wrd

talemted teqm that is bownsd tegether by the common desize to

make @ positive difference in the lipes of others.”

“Uylogen’s markeling programs are carefully plammed,

well executed ond results erienied. We will comtinue to

imitiate stralegies desigmed to decemplish omy cerporale
goals and objeciives.”

June Gobern
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these poleriially fie-saving advarces

CYTOGEN

PrestaSeint®

ONOCLONAL ANTIZODY BASTD IMAGING ACENT voed
A
A

to o rmage the extent and spread ot PROSTATE (4

B




Focused
on the

FUTURE

Cytogen understands the concerns that all men—fathers and sons—hbave about the potential

risks of prostate cancer. Our ongoing educational efforts bave belped thousands better understand
the reality of these risks—and bave shown how early detection and new treatment options can

dramatically increase their chances of long-term success.
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A Picture
of good

HEALTH

Tomorrow, Louis and bis son will get together to celebrate his 73rd birthday.
After a visit to bis urologist for an NMP22® BladderChek™ test, Louis

can look forward to another birthday celebration knowing that bis bladder cancer is under control.
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Snapshots
of fond

MEMORIES

e e . e e i - o ——

Cytogen's Quadramet® lets Emma do what she really wants to do—enjoy that
long-planned cruise with ber busband. With ber pain under control, and an active

on-board social life to look forward to, Emma is ready for the best vacation of ber life.




Picturing
the joy of
COMPANIONSHIP

With new diagnostic advances and innovative treatment options, Bill can spend time on bis
real passion—biking in the mountains—instead of worrying about prostate cancer.

Tomorrow be plans to bead upstate with Rex, bis Yellow Labrador.



SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Cytegen Corporation and Subsidiaries

The following selected financial information has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for each of the five years in
the period ended December 31, 2002. The selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements, including the notes thereto, "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and other

information provided elsewhere in this report.

Year Ended December 31,

(All amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues: .
Product SAlEs ..o e $ 10626 ¢ 8782 $ 7523 $ 7073 0§ 9,085
Rovyalties........................ 1,842 2,063 2,004 1,060 1,664
License and contract . 463 912 1,024 3,171 9,239
Total reVenUES ... e, 12,931 11,757 10,551 11,304 19,988
Operating Expenses:
Cost of product and contract manufacturing revenues......................... 4,748 4,216 4,513 4,213 12,393
Impairment of intangible assets™ ... 1,729 —_ — — —
Research and development 7,605 10,091 6,957 3,849 9,967
Acquisition of marketing and technology rights® —_ — 13,241 1,214 —
Equity loss in PSMA LLC ..., 2,885 332 — —_ —
Equity loss in Targon subsidiary ..........coooeiir oo — — — — 1,020
Selling and marketing................. 5,846 6,314 6,126 4,210 5,103
General and administrative 5,401 4 864 4,934 3,501 7,420
Total Operating eXPensSes .........cc.oco.iovieiioii e e 28,215 25,817 35,771 16,987 35,903
OPeTating 10SS. oo oot e (15,284) (14,060) (25,220) (5,683) (15,915)
Loss on investment (516) — — — —
Cain on sale of laboratory and manufacturing facilities... , — — — 3,298 —
Gain on sale of Targon subsidiary ..o — — — — 2,833
Other income (EXPENSE) . ..o e 101 857 611 412 (70)
Loss before income taxes and cumulative effect of
ACCOUNTING ChaNge ... (15,699) (13,203) (24,609) (1,973) (13,152)
Income tax benefit ..o — (1,103) (1,625) (2,702) —
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change ........... (15,6989) (12,100) (22,984) 729 (13,152)
Cumulative effect of accounting change®®.. ) — — (4,314) — —
Net income (JOss) ..oooiiiii oo (15,699) (12,100) (27,298) 729 (13,152)
Dividends, including deemed dividends on preferred stock ................... — — - —_— (119)
Net income (loss) to common stockholders ..., $ (15,699) § (12,1000 $ (27.298) § 729§ (13,271)
Net income (loss) per common share;
Basic and diluted net income (loss) before cumulative effect of
ACCOUNTING CRANGE ..ot oo $ (1.8 $ (136 $ (313 § o011 § (235
Cumulative effect of accounting change™.................oool - — {0.59) —_ —
Basic and diluted net income (10SS) .....ooiioiiviiiorie oo $ (1.8%) $ (1356 $ (372) % 011 $ (2359
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
BTG e 8,466 7,778 7,334 6,718 5,642
DAEEA .o oo 8,466 7,778 7334 6,819 5642
Pro forma amounts assuming accounting change is applied retroactively: ‘
Net loss to common stockholders ..., $ (22,984) $ (484) § (16,373)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share.............................. $ (3.13) $ (0o7)y $ (2.90)
December 31,
(In thousands) 2802 2001 2000 1999 1998
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Cash, short-term investments and restricted cash ...l $ 14725 ¢ 11309 $ 11,993 $ 12394 $ 3,015
Total a58ets. ..o e 19,804 21,492 20,416 18,605 10,900
Long-term liabilities 2,614 2,291 2,374 2,416 2,223
Accumulated deficit... (356,380)  (340,681)  (328,581) (301,283}  (302,012)
Stockholders' equity 10,588 11,214 7,218 10,549 443

(1) Reflects a non-cash charge to write off the carrying value of the licensing fees associated with BrachySeed I-125 and BrackySeed Pd-103.
(2] In August 2000, the Company licensed product rights from Advanced Magnetics, Inc. In June 1993, the Company acquired Prostagen, Inc.

{3) In 2000, the Company recorded a non-cash charge for the cumulative effect related to the adoption of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101. See Note 1 of the Comsolidated Financial Siatements.

13




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. All statements, other than statements of historical facts,
included in this 2002 Annual Report regarding our strategy, future
operations, financial position, future revenues, projected costs,
prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking

"o Do

estimates,

"o

statements. The words "anticipates,’ "believes,
“intends,” "may,” “plans,” “projects” “will," "
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements contain these identi-
fying words. Such forward-looking statements involve a number of
risks and uncertainties and investors are cautioned not to put any

/,
expects,

"o

would” and similar

undue reliance on any forward-looking statement. We cannot
guarantee that we will actually achieve the plans, intentions or
expectations disclosed in any such forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially, include,
but are not limited, to those identified under the caption
"Additional Factors That May Affect Future Results” provided in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 31, 2003. Investors are cautioned not to put undue reliance
on any forward-looking statement.

Cautionary Statement

Qur actual results may differ materially from our historical
results of operations and those discussed in the forward-looking
statements for various reasons, including, but not limited to, our
ability to: (i) access the capital markets in the near term and in the
future for continued funding of our operations including existing
and new projects and to maintain the listing of our common stock
on the Nasdaq National Market®; (it) attract and retain personnel
needed for business operations and strategic plans; (iii) carry out
our business and financial plans; (iv) attract, and the ultimate
success of, strategic partnering arrangements, collaborations, and
acquisition candidates; (v) successfully develop and commercialize
in-licensed products such as NMP22® BladderChek™ including
programs designed to facilitate the use of our products, such as the
Partners in Excellence or PIE Program; (vi) establish and success-
fully complete clinical trials where required for product approval;
(vii) obtain foreign regulatory approvals for products and to

establish marketing arrangements in countries where approval is

obtained; (viii) demonstrate, over time, the efficacy and safety of
our products; (ix) determine and implement the appropriate strategic
initiative for our AxCell Biosciences subsidiary; and (x) fund
development necessary for existing products and for the pursuit of
new product opportunities. Additional risks that we face include,
but are not limited to: (i) the risk of whether marketable and valuable
products result from our development activities; (ii) the possibility
that we may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual
property portfolio; (iii) the degree of competition we may face
from existing or new products; (iv) the risks associated with
obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals; (v) the ability of
Advanced Magnetics to satisfy the conditions specified by the
FDA regarding approval to market Combidex in the United States;
(vi) shifts in the regulatory environment affecting sale of our
products such as third-party payor reimbursement issues and
dependence on our partners for development of certain projects;
(vii) competitive products and technologies; (viii) price pressure;
and (ix) other factors discussed in our press releases and from time

to time in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Any forward-looking statements made by us do not
reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers,
dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make. We do
not assume, and specifically disclaim, any obligation to update any
forward-looking statements, and these statements represent our
current outlook only as of the date given.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in con-
junction with the Financial Statements and related notes thereto
contained elsewhere herein, as well as from time to time in our fil-
ings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Sigrificant Evenis in 2002

In September 2002, in an effort to reduce expenses and position
Cytogen for stronger long-term growth in oncology, we restructured
our AxCell Biosciences subsidiary. Management intends that the
plan, which included a 75% reduction of AxCell's workforce, will
allow continued research related to the role of novel proteins and
signal transduction pathways in disease progression through both
external collaborations and internal data mining. While AxCell
continues to pursue opportunities in the area of signal transduction
research, the restructuring reinforces our corporate objectives of
developing and marketing oncology products.

In October 2002, we entered into a five-year agreement with
Matritech Inc. to be the sole distributor for Matritech's NMP22
BladderChek test to urologists and oncologists in the United
States. Retention of exclusivity rights depends upon meeting certain
minimum annual purchases. NMP22 BladderChek is a point-of-care
test for bladder cancer that requires only a few drops of a patient’s
urine. NMP22 BladderChek returns results in thirty minutes and
provides urologists with an adjunct technology to cystoscopy, a
clinical procedure for the visual identification of tumors in the
bladder, for improved detection and early diagnosis. During
November 2002, we began promoting NMP22 BladderChek to
urologists in the United States, using our in-house urologic-focused
sales force.

On October 25, 2002, upon the receipt of approval of our stock-
holders at a duly called and held special meeting of stockholders,
our Board of Directors authorized and implemented a reverse
stock split of our issued, outstanding and authorized shares of
common stock at a ratio of one-for-ten. As a result of the reverse
split, one new share of common stock was issued for every ten
shares of common stock held by stockholders of record as of the
close of business on October 25, 2002. The reverse split was
intended, in part, to help increase the market price of our common
stock above the minimum $1.00 per share as required by the
Nasdag National Markets maintenance listing standards. On
November 11, 2002, we announced that we had received notification
from The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. that we had regained compli-
ance with such listing standards regarding minimum bid price.

On December 17, 2002, we announced that H. Joseph Reiser,
Ph.D. resigned his position as our President and Chief Executive
Officer, for personal reasons, effective immediately. Dr. Reiser had
served in such capacities since April 1998, and has, since his resig-
nation, remained a member of our Board of Directors. Michael D.
Becker, our Vice President of Business Development, was unani-
mously elected by our Board of Directors to serve as Dr. Reiser's
replacement as President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Becker
was also unanimously elected to serve as a member of our Board
of Directors.




Also, on December 17, 2002, we announced that Lawrence
Hoffman, our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, resigned
his position with the Company to pursue other opportunities,
effective December 31, 2002. Mr. Hoffman had served in such
capacity since July 2000. Ms. Thu Dang, our Director of Finance,
was promoted to the position of Vice President of Finance, effec-
tive January 1, 2003.
Other recent management changes include:

» William Goeckeler, our Vice President of Research and
Development, was promoted to Vice President of Operations.
Mr. Goeckeler has been with the Company since April 1994,

» Deborah Kaminsky, our Vice President of Sales and Marketing,
will shift her focus as our Vice President of Business
Development. Ms. Kaminsky has been with the Company since
December 2000;

¢ Rita Auld, our Director of Human Resources, was promoted
to Vice President of Human Resources and Administration and
Corporate Secretary. Ms. Auld has been with the Company
since October 2000, and

¢ Corey Jacklin, who has been with the Company since January
2003, assumed the responsibilities of Senior Director of Sales.

In January 2003, we provided Draximage with notice of termi-
nation for each of our License and Distribution Agreement and
Product Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with respect to both
of Draximage's BrachySeed [-125 and BrachySeed Pd-103 products.
We launched BrachySeed [-125 and BrachySeed Pd-103 in February
2001 and May 2002, respectively. Effective fanuary 24, 2003, we
no longer accept or fill new orders for the BrachySeed 1-125 and
BrachySeed Pd-103 products. In April 2003, we entered into an agree-
ment with Draximage formally terminating each of these agreements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended Decemher 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Revenues

Total revenues were $12.9 million in 2002, $11.8 million in
2001 and $10.6 million in 2000. The increase in 2002 from 2001
and 2000 was primarily due to higher product related revenues
from increased sales of ProstaScint and BrachySeed, partially offset
by lower license and contract revenues. In January 2003, we served
notice of termination for each of our License and Distribution
Agreement and Product Manufacturing and Supply Agreement
with Draximage with respect to the BrachySeed 1-125 and
BrachySeed Pd-103 products. As a result, effective January 24, 2003,
we no longer accept or fill new orders for the BrachySeed products.
In April 2003, we entered into an agreement with Draximage
formally terminating each of these agreements. Product related
revenues, including product sales and royalty revenues, accounted
for 96%, 92% and 90% of revenues in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. License and contract revenues accounted for the
remainder of revenues.

Product related revenues were $12.5 million, $10.8 million and
$9.5 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in
2002 from 2001 and 2000 was due primarily to an increase in the
sale of ProstaScint and BrachySeed 1-125 and Pd-103. Effective
January 24, 2003, we discontinued selling and marketing the
BrachySeed products.

Sales from ProstaScint were $7.9 million, $7.6 million and
$7.0 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and accounted
for 64%, 70% and 74% of the product related revenues, respec-
tively. Beginning in July 2000, we assumed sole responsibility for
selling and marketing ProstaScint from Bard Urological Division
of C.R. Bard Inc., our former co-marketing partner. We believe
that future growth and market penetration of ProstaScint is
dependent upon, among other things, the implementation and
continued research of new product applications, such as: (i} com-
bining or fusing ProstaScint with CT (computed tomography) or
MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) scans in a digital overlay
("fusion imaging"), (ii} using ProstaScint scans to guide therapy
("image-guided therapy”), which is not limited to enhancing the
placement of brachytherapy seeds, but can also be applied to
cryosurgery and external beam radiation, such as intensity modu-
lated radiation therapy (IMRT), an advanced and more powerful
form of therapy that uses computers to focus radiation more pre-
cisely on the target; and (iii) competitive reimbursement by federal
and private agencies. There can be no assurance, however, that
such initiatives will significantly increase the sale of ProstaScint.

Sales of BrachySeed were $2.5 million in 2002, compared to
$779,000 in 2001 and accounted for 20% of product related
revenues during 2002, compared to 7% of product related revenues
during 2001. We launched BrachySeed 1-125 in February 2001 and
BrachySeed Pd-103 in May 2002. The increase in 2002 over the
prior period was due to increased market penetration of BrachySeed
products, the agreements for which were subsequently terminated
as described above. As a result, effective January 24, 2003, we no
longer accept or fill new orders for the BrachySeed 1-125 and
BrachySeed Pd-103.

Royalties from Quadramet were $1.8 million, $2.1 million and
$2.0 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and accounted
for 15%, 19% and 21% of product related revenues, respectively.
We believe that the future growth and market penetration of
Quadramet is largely dependent upon, among other things: (i) new
clinical data supporting the expanded and earlier use of Quadramet
in various cancers and in combination with other therapies, such as
chemotherapy and bisphophonates; (ii) establishing the use of
Quadramet at higher doses to target and treat primary bone cancers;
and (iii} increased marketing and sales penetration to radiation and
medical oncologists. Quadramet is currently marketed by our
marketing partner, Berlex Laboratories Inc. Although we believe
that Berlex is an advantageous marketing partner, there can be no
assurance that Quadramet will achieve greater market penetration
on a timely basis or result in significant revenues for us. ’

Sales from OncoScint CR/OV were $182,000, $363,000 and
$519,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The market for
OncoScint CR/OV for diagnosis of colorectal disease has been
negatively affected by positron emission tomography or "PET" scans
which have shown the same or higher sensitivity than OncoScint
CR/OV. Accordingly, we discontinued selling OncoScint at the
end of 2002 in order to focus on our other oncology products.

The initial sales of the NMP22 BladderChek were $14,000 in
2002. During the fourth quarter of 2002, we entered into a five-
year agreement with Matritech Inc. for Cytogen to be the sole dis-
tributor for Matritech's NMP22 BladderChek test to urologists and
oncologists in the United States. Retention of exclusivity rights
depends upon meeting certain minimum annual purchases. We
began introducing NMP22 BladderChek to urologists during
November 2002.
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Effective January 1, 2000, we adopted U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101,
"Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” ("SAB 101") which
requires up-front, non-refundable license fees to be deferred and
recognized over the performance period. The cumulative effect
of adopting SAB 101 resulted in a one-time, non-cash charge of
$4.3 million or $0.59 per share in 2000, which reflects the deferral
of an up-front license fee received from Berlex, net of associated
costs, refated to the licensing of Quadramet recognized in 1998
and a license fee for certain applications of PSMA to a joint
venture formed by Cytogen and Progenics recognized in 1999.
Previously, we had recognized up-front license fees when we had
no obligations to return the fees under any circumstances. Under
SAB 101 these payments are recorded as deferred revenue to be
recognized over the remaining term of the related agreements.
In 2002, 2001 and 2000, we recognized $410,000, $860,000 and
$859,000, respectively, of license revenue that was included in the
cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2000.

Revenues from contract research services were $53,000,
$43,000 and $165,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
In 2002, we performed limited research and development services
for the PSMA Development Company LLC, our joint venture
with Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The level of future revenues
from the joint venture will be dependent upon the extent of
research and development services requested by the joint venture.
In 2000, we discontinued our contract manufacturing services
business as a result of the sale of our laboratory and manufacturing
facilities. Contract revenues have fluctuated in the past and may
fluctuate in the future.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses were $28.2 million, $25.8 million and
$35.8 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase
in 2002 from 2001 is due primarily to a non-cash charge of $1.7 mil-
lion for the intangible asset impairment related to the write-off of
license fees of BrachySeed products, $869,000 for the restructuring
of AxCell in September 2002, a non-cash milestone payment of
$2.0 million related to the progress of the dendritic cell prostate can-
cer clinical trials at Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc. and increased
expenses relating to the development of the PSMA technologies
through our joint venture with Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
the PSMA Development Company LLC, partially offset by a
reduction in funding for research activities at our AxCell subsidiary
and the development of a new manufacturing and purification
process for ProstaScint. The decrease in 2001 from 2000 was due
to a charge in 2000 for the acquisition of Combidex and Code
7228 from Advanced Magnetics, partially offset by increased
development efforts at AxCell in 2001 for AxCell’s proteomics
programs, the development of a new manufacturing process for
ProstaScint and the 2001 launch of BrachySeed 1-125. The 2000
operating expenses included a $13.2 million charge related to the
acquisition of the marketing and technology rights to Combidex
(for all applications) and Code 7228 (for oncology applications
only), of which $13.1 million was non-cash as we issued our com-
mon stock as consideration. At this time, Advanced Magnetics
does not intend to develop Code 7228 for oncology imaging.

Costs of product sales were $4.7 million, $4.2 million and
$4.5 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in
2002 from 2001 was due primarily to an increase in sales of
BrachySeed and a $169,000 charge to reserve for excess inventory
for OncoScint and ProstaScint, partially offset by lower facility
related costs associated with the manufacturing of ProstaScint.
The decrease in 2001 compared to 2000 was due primarily to
lower manufacturing costs that result from better manufacturing
yields for ProstaScint, partially offset by costs associated with the
purchase of BrachySeeds, which became commercially available in
2001. Effective January 24, 2003, we no longer accept or fill orders
for the BrachySeed products.

During 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $1.7 million to
impairment of intangible assets which represents the write-off of
the carrying value of the upfront licensing fees associated with
BrachySeed [-125 and BrachySeed Pd-103, as the carrying value
will not be recoverable. In January 2003, we served notice of ter-
mination for each of our License and Distribution Agreement and
Product Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with Draximage
with respect to the BrachySeed products. As of January 24, 2003,
we no longer accept or fill new orders for BrachySeed. In April 2003,
we entered into an agreement with Draximage formally terminat-
ing each of these agreements.

Research and development expenses were $7.6 million in 2002,
$10.1 million in 2001 and $7.0 million in 2000. The decrease in 2002
from 2001 was due to decreased funding during 2002 for signal
transduction research programs at AxCell and reduction in
expenses related to the development of a new manufacturing and
purification process by DSM Biologics Company B.V. with respect
to ProstaScint, partially offset by a stock-based milestone payment
of $2.0 million in 2002 related to the progress of the dendritic cell
prostate cancer clinical trials at Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc.
The increase in 2001 from 2000 was due, in part, to the development
of a new manufacturing and purification process for ProstaScint.
In 2002, 2001 and 2000 we invested $3.6 million, $4.9 million
and $3.4 million, respectively, in AxCell's research programs and
$551,000, $3.2 million and $559,000, respectively, in our manu-
facturing process development. Our relationship with DSM
providing for the development of a new manufacturing process for
ProstaScint ceased in 2002. In connection with the AxCell restruc-
turing plan in September 2002, cost-saving measures implemented
at AxCell are expected to lower our annual operating expenses by
$2.2 million, which have begun in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Acquisition of marketing and technology rights of $13.2 million
in 2000 represents a non-cash charge of $13.1 million related to
the acquisition of certain rights to product candidates Combidex
(for all applications) and Code 7228 (for oncology applications only)
from Advanced Magnetics. At this time, Advanced Magnetics does
not intend to develop Code 7228 for oncology imaging.

Qur share in the equity loss in the PSMA Development
Company LLC, our joint venture with Progenics, was $2.9 million
for 2002, and represented 50% of the joint venture's operating
results. The joint venture is equally owned by us and Progenics.
We account for the joint venture using the equity method of
accounting. Progenics was obligated to fund the initial $3.0 million
of development costs of the joint venture, in addition to $2.0 million
in supplemental capital contributions funded at certain defined
dates. Beginning in December 2001, we began to equally share the




costs of the joint venture with Progenics. Qur share in the equity
loss in the joint venture was $332,000 for 2001. We expect our
share of losses and funding in the joint venture to continue at even
higher levels in subsequent periods. The joint venture is funded by
equal capital contributions from each of Progenics and Cytogen in
accordance with an annual budget approved by the joint venture
representatives from each such party. As of March 28, 2003, the
parties are in the process of negotiating the 2003 annual budget
for the joint venture and have agreed that the operating budget for
2003 will be no less than the 2002 operating expenses for the joint
venture. Contract research and development services provided by
Progenics to the joint venture during 2002 were in accordance
with a services agreement between the parties. As of March 28,
2003, the parties are negotiating the terms of a new services agree-
ment and believe that if mutual agreement is not achieved, the par-
ties can successfully negotiate with outside third parties for
necessary services.

Selling and marketing expenses were $5.8 million, $6.3 million
and $6.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
decrease in 2002 from 2001 was due to costs incurred in 2001 for
the launch of BrachySeed 1-125. The increase in 2001 from 2000
reflected the launch costs in 2001 for BrachySeed 1-125, partially
offset by costs associated with the expansion of our in-house sales
force in 2000. We assumed sole responsibility for the selling and
marketing of ProstaScint in July 2000.

General and administrative expenses were $5.4 million,
$4.9 million and $4.9 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The increase in 2002 from 2001 and 2000 was due primarily to
a charge of $869,000 related to the restructuring of AxCell in
September 2002, and a stock-based compensation charge for a key
employee, partially offset by decreased spending in legal and
professional fees in 2002.

Insurance Reimbursement

During 2001, we received a one-time payment of $402,000
from an insurance claim filed by us in 2000 to recover the loss of
product resulting from the rupture of a tube during the manufacture
of a batch of ProstaScint.

Loss on investment

We recorded a non-cash charge of $516,000 during 2002 for an
impairment in the carrying value of an investment in shares of
Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc. common stock, which the Company
had received as part of the acquisition of Prostagen in 1999. The
fair value of such investment, based on the quoted market prices,
had significantly decreased from its original carrying value of
$516,000. Based on an evaluation of the financial condition of
Northwest and the significant decline in stock price, we concluded
that the decline was other than temporary and that the carrying
amount of this investment would not be recoverable.

Interest Income/Expense

Interest income was $274,000, $635,000 and $774,000 for
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The declines in 2002 and 2001
from 2000 were due to lower average yields on investments for
each of the respective periods, partially offset by higher average
cash and cash equivalent balances during the periods.

Interest expense was $173,000, $180,000 and $163,000 in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Interest expense includes interest
on outstanding debt and finance charges related to various equip-
ment leases.

income Tax Benefit

During 2001 and 2000, we sold New Jersey State net operating
loss carryforwards and research and development credits, which
resulted in the recognition of $1.1 million and $1.6 million income
tax benefit, respectively. In January 2003, we sold additional
New Jersey State net operating loss carryforwards which resulted
in $584,000 of income tax benefit, which will be recorded in the
first quarter of 2003. Assuming the State of New Jersey continues
to fund this program, which is uncertain, the actual amount of net
operating losses and tax credits we may sell will also depend upon
the allocation among qualifying companies of an annual pool
established by the State of New Jersey.

Net Loss

Net loss was $15.7 million, $12.1 million and $27.3 million in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, Net loss per share in 2002
was $1.85, compared to $1.56 in 2001 and $3.72 in 2000. Net loss
was based on weighted average common shares outstanding of
8.5 million, 7.8 million and 7.3 million, in each of 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The 2000 net loss included $4.3 million, or
$0.59 per share, for the cumulative effect of accounting change as
a result of the adoption of SAB 101.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash and cash equivalents were $14.7 million as of
December 31, 2002, compared to $11.3 million as of December 31,
2001. The increase in 2002 from 2001 was primarily due to the
proceeds of approximately $13 million from the sale of Cytogen
Common Stock offset by cash used for operating activities.
In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the cash used for operating activities was
$8.3 million, $13.4 million, and $9.0 million, respectively. The
2002 decrease from 2001 and 2000 was primarily due to improved
working capital management, which included a build-up of
ProstaScint inventory in 2001 and 2000 compared to a reduction
in 2002. In January 2003, we secured a new supply arrangement
for the manufacturing of ProstaScint with Laureate Pharma L.P.
and as a result, expect to use significant resources to build
ProstaScint inventory levels to a two-year requirement.

Historically, our primary sources of cash have been proceeds
from the issuance and sale of our stock through public offerings
and private placements, product related revenues, revenues from
contract research services, fees paid under license agreements and
interest earned on cash and short-term investments. In October
2000, we entered into an equity financing facility with Acqua
Weilington North American Equities Fund, L.P. which provided
for the sale of up to $70 million of our common stock to Acqua
Wellington at a small discount to market price. Pursuant to this
equity financing facility, in February 2001, we sold to Acqua
Wellington 127,656 shares of our common stock for an aggregate
purchase price of $6.5 million. The equity financing facility was
terminated in June 2001.
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In June 2001, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with
the State of Wisconsin Investment Board, or SWIB, pursuant to
which we sold 182,000 shares of our common stock to SWIB for
an aggregate purchase price of $8.2 million, before transaction
costs. In connection with the Share Purchase Agreement, we were
required to discontinue the use of the equity financing facility with
Acqua Wellington and such agreement was terminated.

In October 2001, we filed a shelf registration statement on
Form S-3 to register 1,000,000 shares of our common stock. Such
registration statement was declared effective by the Securities and
Exchange Commission in November 2001.

In January 2002, we sold 297,067 shares of our common stock
to SWIB for an aggregate purchase price of $8.0 million.
Additionally, in June 2002, we sold 416,670 shares of our common
stock to SWIB for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million.
Such issuances and sales of our common stock to SWIB in January
2002 and June 2002 were registered on our shelf registration state-
ment on Form S-3.

In connection with our stock issuances to SWIB, we agreed not
to enter into equity line arrangements in the future, issue certain
securities at less than fair market value or undertake certain other
securities issuances without requisite stockholder approval. Our
stockholders have approved, and we have implemented, amend-
ments to our By-Laws and certain of our stock option plans to
effect these restrictions,

In January 2003, we received cash of $584,000 relating to a sale
of New Jersey State net operating losses and research and devel-
opment credits. Assuming the State of New Jersey continues to
fund this program, which is uncertain, the actual amount of net
operating losses and tax credits we may sell will also depend upon
the allocation among qualifying companies of an annual pool
established by the State of New Jersey.

Because the market value of our common stock held by non-
affiliates of the Company is less than $75 million, we are ineligible
to utilize a registration statement on Form S-3 for primary offer-
ings in which our common stock is offered for cash on our behalf.
We cannot guarantee you that the market value of our common
stock held by non-affiliates will ever increase above $75 million,
and as a result, that we will thereby regain eligibility to utilize a
Form S-3 registration statement for such primary offerings.

We have relied upon revenues from sales of the BrachySeed
products to partially fund ongoing operations. For the years ended
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, revenue from the
sale of BrachySeed praducts was $2.5 million and $779,000,
respectively. In December 2002, we served notice of termination
for each of our License and Distribution Agreement and Product
Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with Draximage with
respect to both the BrachySeed I-125 and BrachySeed Pd-103
products. As a result, effective January 24, 2003, we no longer
accept or fill new orders for the BrachySeed products. In April
2003, we entered into an agreement with Draximage formally ter-
minating each of these agreements.

Beginning in December 2001, we began to equally share the
costs of the PSMA Development Company LLC, our joint venture
with Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Since December 31, 2001,

we have recognized 50% of the joint venture’s operating results, of
which our share was $2.9 million for 2002 and $332,000 for 2001.
We expect our share of losses and funding in the joint venture to
continue at an even higher level in the subsequent periods. The
joint venture is funded by equal capital contributions from each of
Progenics and Cytogen in accordance with an annual budget
approved by the joint venture representatives from each such
party. As of March 28, 2003, the parties are in the process of nego-
tiating the 2003 annual budget for the joint venture and have
agreed that the operating budget for 2003 will be no less than the
2002 operating expenses for the joint venture. Contract research
and development services provided by Progenics to the joint ven-
ture during 2002 were in accordance with a services agreement
between the parties. As of March 28, 2003, the parties are negoti-
ating the terms of a new services agreement and believe that if
mutual agreement is not achieved, the parties can successfully
negotiate with outside third parties for necessary services.

Our capital and operating requirements may change depending
upon various factors, including: (i) whether we and our strategic
partners achieve success in manufacturing, marketing and commer-
cialization of our products; (ii) the amount of resources which we
devote to clinical evaluations and the expansion of marketing and
sales capabilities; (iii) results of clinical trials and research and
development activities; and (iv) competitive and technological
developments, in particular, we expect to incur significant costs for
the development of our PSMA technologies.

Our financial objectives are to meet our capital and operating
requirements through revenues from existing products and licensing
arrangements. To achieve our strategic objectives, we may enter
into research and development partnerships and acquire, in-license
and develop other technologies, products or services. Certain of
these strategies may require payments by us in either cash or stock
in addition to the costs associated with developing and marketing
a product or technology. However, we believe that, if successtul,
such strategies may increase long-term revenues. There can be no
assurance as to the success of such strategies or that resulting funds
will be sufficient to meet cash requirements until product revenues
are sufficient to cover operating expenses, if ever. To fund these
strategic and operating activities, we may sell equity or debt
securities as market conditions permit or enter into credit facilities.

We have incurred negative cash flows from operations since our
inception, and have expended, and expect to continue to expend
in the future, substantial funds to implement our planned product
development efforts, including acquisition of products and com-
plementary technologies, research and development, clinical stud-
ies and regulatory activities, and to further our marketing and sales
programs. We expect that our existing capital resources should be
adequate to fund our operations and commitments into the first
quarter of 2004. We cannot assure you that our business or opera-
tions will not change in a manner that would consume available
resources more rapidly than anticipated. We expect that we will
have additional requirements for debt or equity capital, irrespec-
tive of whether and when we reach profitability, for further prod-
uct development costs, product and technology acquisition costs,
and working capital.




Qur future capital requirements and the adequacy of available
funds will depend on numerous factors, including: (i) the successful
commercialization of our products; (ii) the costs associated
with the acquisition of complementary products and technologies;
(iii) progress in our product development efforts and the magnitude
and scope of such efforts; (iv) progress with clinical trials; (v} progress

with regulatory affairs activities; (vi) the cost of filing, prosecuting,
defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property
rights, (vii) competing technological and market developments;
and (viii) the expansion of strategic alliances for the sales, marketing,
manufacturing and distribution of our products. To the extent that
the currently available funds and revenues are insufficient to meet
current or planned operating requirements, we will be required to
obtain additional funds through equity or debt financing, strategic
alliances with corporate partners and others, or through other
sources. There can be no assurance that the financial sources
described above will be available when needed or at terms
commercially acceptable to us. If adequate funds are not available,
we may be required to delay, further scale back or eliminate
certain aspects of our operations or attempt to obtain funds
through arrangements with collaborative partners or others that
may require us to relinquish rights to certain of our technologies,
product candidates, products or potential markets. If adequate
funds are not available, our business, financial condition and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Release No. 60 requires all companies to
include a discussion of critical accounting policies or methods used in
the preparation of financial statements. Note 1 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes a
summary of our significant accounting policies and methods used in
the prepararion of our Consolidated Financial Statements. The fol-
lowing is a brief discussion of the more significant accounting poli-
cies and methods used by us. The preparation of our Consolidated
Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Qur actual results could differ
materially from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from the sale of our products upon ship-
ment. We do not grant price protection to customers. Quadramet
royalties are recognized when earned. The Securities and
Exchange Commission has issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB)
No. 101, "Revenue Recognition,” which provides guidance on the
recognition of up-front, non-refundable license fees. Accordingly,
we defer up-front license fees and recognize them over the
estimated performance period of the related agreement, when we
have continuing involvement. Since the term of the performance
periods is subject to management’s estimates, future revenues to
be recognized could be affected by changes in such estimates.

O

Accounis Receivable

Our accounts receivable balances are net of an estimated
allowance for uncollectible accounts. We continuously monitor
collections and payments from our customers and maintain an
allowance for uncollectible accounts based upon our historical
experience and any specific customer collection issues that we
have identified. While we believe our reserve estimate to be
appropriate, we may find it necessary to adjust our allowance for
uncollectible accounts if the future bad debt expense exceeds our
estimated reserve. We are subject to concentration risks as a limited
number of our customers provide a high percent of total revenues,
and corresponding receivables.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, as deter-
mined using the first-in, first-out method, which most closely
reflects the physical flow of our inventories. Qur products and raw
materials are subject to expiration dating. We regularly review
quantities on hand to determine the need for reserves for excess
and obsolete inventories based primarily on our estimated forecast
of product sales. Our estimate of future product demand may
prove to be inaccurate, in which case we may have understated or
overstated our reserve for excess and obsolete inventories.

Carrying Value of Fixed and Intangible Assets

Our fixed assets and certain of our acquired rights to market our
products have been recorded at cost and are being amortized on
a siraight-line basis over the estimated useful life of those assets.
If indicators of impairment exist, we assess the recoverability of
the affected long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying
value of such assets can be recovered through undiscounted future
operating cash flows. [f impairment is indicated, we measure the
amount of such impairment by comparing the carrying value of
the assets to the present value of the expected future cash flows
associated with the use of the asset. Adverse changes regarding
future cash flows to be received from long-lived assets could indicate
that an impairment exists, and would require the write down of the
carrying value of the impaired asset at that time.

During 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $1.7 million to
impairment of intangible assets, which represents the write-off of
the carrying value of the licensing fees associated with BrachySeed
1-125 and BrachySeed Pd-103, as the carrying value will not
be recoverable.

In October 2002, we entered into a five-year agreement with
Matritech Inc. to be the sole distributor for Matritech’'s NMP22
BladderChek point-of-care test to urologists and oncologists in the
United States. Retention of exclusivity rights depends upon meeting
certain minimum annual purchases. We paid Matritech $150,000
upon the execution of the agreement, which was recorded as other
assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet for the
respective period and is being amortized over the five-year esti-
mated performance period of the agreement. We determined that
we did not have any impairment regarding Matritech's license fee
at December 31, 2002.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

COMMITMENTS

As outlined in Notes 7, 10 and 16 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements, we have entered into various contractual obligations
and commercial commitments. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2002:

Contractual Obligation Less than | year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5years  After 5 years Total
Long-term debt ..ot e — $2,280,000 $ — 3 — $ 2,280,000
Capital lease obligations ... 80,000 82,000 —_ — 162,000
FAQHItY FESES .. vvvverr e eeeeeeese o eee oottt 609,000 899,000 103,000 — 1,611,000
Other operating l€aSEs .. .....coooii it 228,000 8,000 — — 236,000
Manufacturing and research and development contracts ............................... 1,317,000 327,000 260,000 1,140,000 3,044,000
Minimum royalty Payments ... ..ot e 1,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 7,000,000 12,000,000
TORAL e $3,234,000 $5,596,000 $2,363,000  $8,140,000  $19,333,000

In addition to the above, we are obligated to make certain royalty
payments based on sales of the related product and certain mile-
stone payments if our collaborative partners achieved specific
development milestones or commercial milestones as outlined in
Notes 5 and 7 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In subsequent pericds, we expect to provide funding for the
development of the PSMA technologies through our joint venture
with Progenics at even higher levels than the current year.
Such funding amount may vary dependent upon, among other
things, the results of the clinical trials and research and develop-
ment activities, competitive and technological developments,
and market opportunities.

RECENTLY-ENACTED ACCOUNTING PRONQUNCEMENTS

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standard Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 146, "Accounting
for Exit or Disposal Activities" SFAS 146 addresses significant
issues regarding the recognition, measurement and reporting of costs
associated with exit and disposal activities, including restructuring
activities. SFAS 146 also addresses recognition of certain costs
related to terminating a contract that is not a capital lease, costs to
consolidate facilities or relocate employees and termination of
benefits provided to employees that are involuntarily terminated
under the terms of a one-time benefit arrangement that is not an
ongoing benefit arrangement or an individual deferred compensation
contract. SFAS 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities that
are initiated after December 31, 2002.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RIsK

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

We do not have operations subject to risks of foreign currency
fluctuations, nor do we use derivative financial instruments in our
operations or investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2002, the
Company had $2.3 million of debt outstanding with a fixed interest
rate of 7%. We do not have exposure to market risks associated with

changes in interest rates, as we have no variable interest rate debt
outstanding. Changes in interest rates could expose us to market risk
associated with a fixed interest rate debt. We do not believe that this
note will have material exposure to market risks associated with
interest rates.




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Cyiogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

December 31,

[All amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 2002 2001

ASSETS:

Current Assets:
Cash and cash eqQUIVAIENTS ..o e e e e e e, $ 14725 $ 11,309
Marketable SECUIITIES ... oo e e e — 1,376
Receivable on income tax benefit sold. ... .. oo e _ 1,103
ACCOUNTS TeCEIVADIE, MEL....ocii ot e e e e e e 1,778 1,621
O I OTIES .o e 1,262 1,889
O RET CUTTEIT @SSEES ..ot ot e e e e e e e 643 508

TOtAL QUITEIE @SSETS .. oo iiii it oot e et 18,408 17,806
Property and EQUIDMENT, NMEU ..o e et 1,072 1.831
T A S EES L. 414 1,855

$ 19,894 $ 271,492

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Current Liabilities:

Current portion of long-term liabilities ... e e $ 8¢ 9 77
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. ..o e 4,427 5,315
DIeferTed FEVEMUE ... e e e e 385 534
Total current Habilities. ... e 4,892 5,926
Long-Term Liabilities ... ... e e e 2,614 2,291
Deferred ReVenUE .o 1,800 2,061

Commitments and Contingencies {Note 16)
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 5,400,000 shares authorized—
Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock, $.01 par value,
200,000 shares authorized, none issued and oUSTANAING ..ot —_— —
Common stock, $.01 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized,
8,758,235 and 7,893,734 shares issued and outstanding

at December 31, 2002 and 2001, 1€SPeCIIVELY ..o e e e e 88 79
Additional paid-in CAPItal. ... e e e 366,884 351,577
Deferred compensation ... (4) (621)
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 860
Accumuiated defiCit .. ..o e (356,380) (340,681)

Total stoCkhOlders' @QUITY ..o i e e e e e 10,588 11,214

$ 19,894 $§ 21,492

The accompanyimg oles are an iutegral part af these statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries
1
Year Ended December 31,
(All amounts in thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001 2000
Revenues:
Product related:
$ 7,923 ¢ 7640 $ 7,004
2,507 779 —
198 363 519
Total product SAlES. ..., 10,626 8,782 7,523
QUAAramet TOYAITES ... ettt 1,842 2,063 2,004
Total product TElated ... .. oo e, 12,468 10,845 9,527 !
LACENSE AN CONIIACT.....oo oo oo e e 483 912 1,024 '
TOtAL FEVENUES. ... e e 12,931 11,757 10,551
Operating Expenses:
Cost of product related reVEMUES ...............ocoi i oo 4,748 4216 4,513
Impairment of intangible assets....... 1,728 — —
Research and development............. 7,605 10,091 6,957
Acquisition of marketing and technology rights .................. - — 13,241
Equity 1oss in PSIMA LLC ... oo e e e e, 2,886 332 —
Selling and Marketing.......c.coooiiiii i e e, 5,846 6,314 6,126
General and adminISErative ... oo 5,401 4,864 4,934
Total OPErating EXPENSES ....ovivi ittt 28,215 25,817 35,771
OPETaAtING [0S . oot oo e e (15,284) (14,060} (25,220)
INSUFANCE TeIMbBUTSEMENT. ..o e e e e — 402 —
Loss on investment............... {518) — —
Interest income......... 274 635 774
O Ot @ PEIISE ..o e e, (173) (180) (163)
Loss before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change ... {15,699) (13,203) (24,609)
INCOMIE 18X DEICT I . oot — (1,103) (1,625)
Loss before cumulative effect of accounting change ... (15,699) (12,100) (22,984)
Cumulative effect of accounting change (Note 1) -—_ — (4,314)
N 0SSttt $(15,6%9)  $(12,100) $(27,298)
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted net loss before cumulative effect of accounting change ..., $ (1.88) $ (156) § (3.13)
Cumulative effect of accounting change................cocooo oo e, — — (0.59)
Basic and diluted net 10SS ... oo oo $ (1.8 $ (1560 $ (3.72)
Weighted average common shares oUtStanding...........ccooovivoe oo 8,466 7,778 7,334

The accompanying notes are an intzgral part of these statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

Accumulated
Other
Additional  Deferred Compre- Total
Common Paid-in Compen- hensive Accumulated  Stockholders'
(All amounts in thousands, except share daia) Stock Capital sation Income Deficit Eq uity
Balance, December 31, 1989, .. ... $71 $311,843 $ (82) $ — $(301,283) $10,549
Sale of 356,777 shares of common stock,
including exercise of stock options........................... 4 10,374 — — — 10,378
Issuance of 150,000 shares of common stock in
connection with the acquisition of product
candidates marketing rights.................n 1 13,078 — — — 13,079
Issuance of options to purchase shares of
COMMON StOCK ..o e — 261 — _ — 261
Deferred compensation related to stock options............ —_ 1,062 (1,062) — — —
Amortization of deferred compensation ........................ — — 249 — — 249
NET10SS ..o — — — — (27,298) (27,298)
Balance, December 31, 2006..........................oocoeiiien 76 336,618 (895) — (328,581) 7,218
Sale of 324,149 shares of common stock,
including exercise of stock options........................ 3 14,235 — — —_ 14,238
Issuance of 10,141 shares of common stock and
stock options related to compensation ...................... —_ 282 — — —_ 282
Issuance of options and warrants to purchase shares
of common stock ..o — 201 — — — 201
Deferred compensation related to stock options........... —_ 241 (241) — —_ —
Amortization of deferred compensation ..................... — —_ 515 — — 515
Comprehensive loss:
Nt HOSS ..o e — — — — (12,100) (12,100)
Unrealized gain on marketable securities .................. —_ — — 860 —_ 860
Total comprehensive loss ... (11,240)
Balance, December 31, 2001 ... 79 351,577 (621) 860 (340,681) 11,214
Sale of 716,290 shares of common stock,
including exercise of stock options............................ 7 12,966 — — — 12,973
Issuance of 20,512 shares of common stock and
stock options related to compensation ..................... 1 736 — — —_ 737
Issuance of 127,699 shares of common stock in
connection with Prostagen...............oocooooeee i, 1 2,038 — — — 2,039
Reversal of deferred compensation related
t0 STOCK OPTIONS ..ot oo —_ (433) 433 — — —_
Amortization of deferred compensation ....................... _— — 184 — —_ 184
Comprehensive loss:
N O 1088 e — — — — (15,699) (15,699)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities .................... — — — (860) — (860)
Total comprehensive loss ..., (16,559)
Balance, December 31, 2002.............ooocovoreieeoeeeeee s $88 $368,884 § (4) $ — $(356,380) $ 10,588

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CaAsH FLOWS

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31,

(All amounts in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
INEEJOSS ..o e e $(15,698) $(12,100) $(27,298)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amoOrtization..........ooooiiiie o oo e e e 778 1,186 1,027
Imputed interest (INCOME) EXPEMSE L..oviiiiiiiiis ettt et ettt — (43) 29
Stock-based COMPENSATION EXPEMSES ... i ovoii oottt e e oottt 655 809 510
Stock-based MIlESTONE PAYMENT ...t e 2,033 — —
Amortization of deferred reVenUe ... e e (410) (860) (859)
Acquisition of marketing and technology rights. ... - — 13,079
Cumulative effect of accounting change ... — — 4,314
ASSEE IMIPAIITIICIIT 1.oe i et e et ettt ettt ea ettt et ee et 2,446 — —
LOSS ON INVESEMENT ..o oo e et 516 — —
Gain on sale of property and eqUIPIMENT ... oo i e — — (148)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables, Mt ..o e e, 948 263 397
IOV I OTIES L. e e e 627 (1,006) (198)
OHRET @SSELS 1ottt et e 548 24 (1,631)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. ... (692) (1,714) 1,740
Net cash used in OPErating aCUVILIES . ....ccooiiii i oo {8,251) (13,441) (9,038)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and eqUIPMENT . .......oooiii i, (148) (813) (1,209)
Purchase of product Fights. ..o e e e e, {1,130) (500) (500}
Net proceeds from sale of property and eqUIPMENt ..ot 100 — 148
Decrease in short-termy INVESTIMIENES ... .ocioi it oot —_ — 1,593
Net cash provided by (used in) investing aCtivities ............c.oooiivoiiiiiie oo e (1,198) (1,313) 32
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of COMMON SEOCK. ..ot 12,973 14,238 10,378
Payments of long-term liabilities. ... (108) (168) (180)
Net cash provided by financing activities...............c.ocoooi oo 12,865 14,070 10,198
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... 3,416 (684) 1,192
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ..o, 11,309 11,993 10,801
Cash and cash equivalents, end of Year ... e e $14,725 $11,309  $ 11,993

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business

Cytogen Corporation ("Cytogen” or the "Company") of Princeton,
New Jersey is a product-driven, oncology-focused biopharmaceu-
tical company. The Company markets oncology products through
its in-house sales force: ProstaScint® (a monoclonal antibody-
based imaging agent used to image the extent and spread of
prostate cancer) and NMP22® BladderChek™ (a point-of-care test
for bladder cancer detection). The Company has also developed
Quadramet®, a skeletal targeting therapeutic radiopharmaceutical
for the relief of bone pain in prostate and other types of cancer, for
which the Company receives royalties on product sales through
Berlex Laboratories, the United States affiliate of Schering AG
Germany, which markets the product in the United States. The
Company's pipeline comprises product candidates at various stages
of clinical development, including fully human monoclonal anti-
bodies and cancer vaccines based on PSMA (prostate specific
membrane antigen) technology, which the Company exclustvely
licensed from Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center. The
Company also conducts research in cell signaling through its
AxCell Biosciences research subsidiary in Newtown, Pennsylvania.

In August 2000, we expanded our product pipeline by entering
into marketing, license and supply agreements with Advanced
Magnetics, Inc. for Combidex® which is an investigational mag-
netic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast agent that assists in the
differentiation of metastatic from non-metastatic lymph nodes. We
hold exclusive United States marketing rights to Combidex.
Advanced Magnetics is continuing its discussions with the FDA
relating to outstanding issues regarding an approvable letter
received from the FDA dated June 2000, in an effort to bring
Combidex to market.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Cytogen and its subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and trans-
actions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Statements of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in banks
and all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months
or less at the time of purchase. Cash paid for interest expense
was $169,000, $180,000 and $99,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company purchased
$189,000, $11,000 and $49,000, respectively, of equipment under
various capital leases.

Marketable Securities

In connection with the acquisition of Prostagen, Inc. in
June 1999 (see Note 5), the Company received 275,350 shares
of Northwest Biotherapeutics, Inc. (“Northwest”) common stock.

The Company had classified this investment as available-for-sale
securities. The fair value of Northwest stock, based on quoted
market prices, had significantly decreased from the Company's
original carrying value of this investment of $516,000. Based on
the evaluation of the financial condition of Northwest and the
significant decline in stock price, management concluded that the
carrying amount of this investment would not be recoverable.
Accordingly, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $516,000
related to the other than temporary decline in the value of this
investment during 2002.

Receivables

At both December 31, 2002 and 2001, accounts receivable were
net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $30,000. There was no
expense charged to the provision for doubtful accounts during 2002,
2001 and 2000. The Company wrote off $0, $5,000 and $47,000
of uncollectible accounts in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

At December 31, 2001, the Company had a $1.1 million receiv-
able due from Public Service Electric and Gas Company relating to
the sales of New Jersey State operating loss carryforwards and
research and development credits. The Company received the
proceeds from this receivable in January 2002.

Inventories

The Company'’s inventories are primarily related to ProstaScint
and NMP22 BladderChek. Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost or market using the first-in, first-out method and consisted of
the following:

December 31,
2002 2001
Raw materials..............cocooiiiiiiininnn, $ 506,000 § 506,000
Work-in process .. 39,000 1,371,000
Finished goods.......c.coooviiiiiciciecn 717,000 12,000
$1,262,000 $1,889,000

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of depreciation.
Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the lease period or the estimated useful life, whichever is
shorter. Equipment and furniture are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over three to five years. Expenditures for repairs and mainte-
nance are charged to expense as incurred. Property and equipment
consisted of the following:

December 31,
2002 2001

Leasehold improvements............cocc.oeienn $ 103,000 $ 3,425,000
Equipment and furniture ... 2,420,000 6,224,000
2,523,000 9,649,000

Less—accumulated depreciation and
AMOTLIZAtION .. ooveooi e (1,451,000) (7,818,000)
$1,072,000 $ 1,831,000

In 2002, the Company wrote off approximately $1.7 million of
fully depreciated property and equipment, and sold $5.3 million of
its manufacturing property and equipment which had a net value of
$100,000 to Bard BioPharma L.P, a subsidiary of Purdue Pharma L.P,
for proceeds of $100,000. Depreciation expense was $600,000,
$1.2 million and $1.0 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

Fair Yalue of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and
cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued expenses and long-term debt. Management believes
the carrying value of these assets and liabilities are considered to
be representative of their fair market value.

impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” if indicators of impairment exist, management
assesses the recoverabiiity of the affected long-lived assets by
determining whether the carrying value of such assets can be
recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows and
eventual disposition of the asset. If impairment is indicated, man-
agement measures the amount of such impairment by comparing
the carrying value of the assets to the present value of the
expected future cash flows associated with the use of the asset.
During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a
charge of $1.7 million for the asset impairment associated with
licensing fees paid by the Company related to BrachySeed [-125
and BrachySeed Pd-103 (see Note 4).

Other Assetls
Other assets consisted of the following:

December 31,

2002 2001
NMP22 BladderChek license fee, net ............... $145,000 $ —
BrachySeed 1-125 license fee, net (Note 4} ....... _ 903,000
Investment in PSMA Development Co. LLC
(NOE 6) ..o 1,000 588,000
Other ..o, 268,000 364,000
$414,000  $1,855,000

Revenue Recognition

Product related revenues include product sales by Cytogen to its
customers and Quadramet royalties. Product sales are recognized
upon shipment of the finished goods. The Company does not
grant price protection to its customers. Royalties are recognized as
revenue when earned.

License and contract revenues include milestone payments and
fees under collaborative agreements with third parties, revenues from
contract manufacturing and research services, and revenues from
other miscellaneous sources. In 2000, the Company discontinued
contract manufacturing services, concurrent with the sale of the
manufacturing and laboratory facilities and therefore has received
no revenue from this source since 2000.

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company adopted U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101,
“Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements" (“SAB 101"}, which,
as applied to the Company, requires up-front, non-refundable
license fees to be deferred and recognized over the performance
period. The cumulative effect of adopting SAB 101 resulted in a
one-time, non-cash charge of $4.3 million or $0.59 per share,
which reflects the deferral of an up-front license fee received from
Berlex Laboratories, Inc. (“Berlex”), net of associated costs, related
to the licensing of Quadramet recognized in October 1998 and a
license fee for certain applications of PSMA to a joint venture
formed by Cytogen and Progenics Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("Progenics”)
recognized in June 1999 (see Note 6). Previously, the Company

had recognized up-front license fees when the Company
had no obligations to return the fees under any circumstances.
Under SAB 101, these payments are recorded as deferred revenue
to be recognized over the remaining term of the related agree-
ments. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
the Company recognized $410,000, $860,000 and $859,000 in
revenues, respectively, that were included in the cumulative effect
adjustment as of January 1, 2000.

Prior year financial statements have not been restated to apply
SAB 101 retroactively; however, the following pro forma amounts
present the net loss to common stockholders and net loss per share
assuming the Company had retroactively applied SAB 101.

Year Ended December 31,

2000
Net loss, as reported...........c.cocooeiiirivisiveroiieienn $(27,298,000)
Net loss per share, as reported ..............ccocooveierrenn $ WWV
Pro forma net 108s.........covvoovoirieiess oo $(22,984,000)
Pro forma net loss per share ... $ (3.13)

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") 00-10,
the Company records shipping and handling charges billed to cus-
tomers as revenue and the related costs as cost of product sales.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures consist of projects
conducted by the Company and payments made to sponsored
research programs and consultants. All research and development
costs are charged to expense as incurred. Research and development
expenditures for customer sponsored programs were $53,000,
$17,000 and $45,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Patent Cosls
Patent costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and
liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting
for Income Taxes.” Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recog-
nized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is based upon the weighted
average common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted
net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per share,
as the inclusion of common stock equivalents would be antidilu-
tive due to the Company's losses (see Note 12).

Reverse Stock Split

On October 25, 2002, upon the receipt of approval of the
Company’s stockholders, the Company's Board of Directors
authorized and implemented a reverse stock split (the "Reverse
Split") of Cytogen’s issued, outstanding and authorized shares of




common stock at a ratio of one-for-ten. All references in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements to the number of
shares and per share amounts have been retroactively restated to
reflect the Reverse Split.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company follows the intrinsic value method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and
related interpretations. The Company records deferred compensation
for option grants to employees for the amount, if any, by which the
market price per share exceeds the exercise price per share at

the measurement date, which is generally the grant date. In addition,
the Company applies fair value accounting for option grants to
non-employees in accordance with SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” and EITF Issue 96-18, "Accounting
for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees
for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.”
The Company follows the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123,
as amended by SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.” Had compensation
cost for options been recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations using the fair value method of accounting, the
Company's net loss and net loss per share would have been:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net 1085, @5 TEPOTTE. ..o oottt
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net loss

............................................... $(15,699,000)  $(12,100,000)  $(27,298,000)

184,000 515,000 249,000

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value-based

method for all awards. ... e

Pro forma net 10SS.........ooov oo e et e

Basic and diluted net loss per share, as reported ..o
Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share .............cccoooviei oo,

Other Comprehensive Income

The Company follows SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive
Income.” This statement requires the classification of items of
other comprehensive income by their nature and disclosure of the
accumulated balance of other comprehensive income separately
from retained earnings and additional paid-in capital in the equity
section of the balance sheet.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 146, "Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities.”
SFAS 146 addresses significant issues regarding the recognition,
measurement and reporting of costs associated with exit and dis-
posal activities, including restructuring activities. SFAS 146 also
addresses recognition of certain costs related to terminating a con-
tract that is not a capital lease, costs to consolidate facilities or
relocate employees and termination of benefits provided to
employees that are involuntarily terminated under the terms of a
one-time benefit arrangement that is not an ongoing benefit
arrangement or an individual deferred compensation contract.
SFAS 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated
after December 31, 2002.

Reclassification
Certain amounts in prior years consolidated financial statements
have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.

2. DSM BIOLOGICS COMPANY B.V.

In July 2000, the Company entered into a Development and
Manufacturing Agreement with DSM Biologics Company B.V.
("DSM"), pursuant to which DSM was to conduct certain develop-
ment activities with respect to ProstaScint, including the delivery
of a limited number of batches of ProstaScint for testing and evalua-
tion purposes. During 2002, the parties ceased to operate under the
terms of such agreement. In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company
recorded $551,000, $3.2 million and $559,000, respectively, of
development expenses related to this agreement.

............................................... (4,000,000) (5,838,000) (3,640,000)
............................................... $(19,515,000)  $(17,423,000)  $(30,689,000)

............................................... $ (1.85) % (1.56) $ (3.72)
............................................. $ @231 §$ (2.24)  § (4.18)

3. ADVANCED MAGNETICS, INC.

In August 2000, the Company and Advanced Magnetics, Inc., a
developer of novel diagnostic pharmaceuticals for use in magnetic
resonance imaging (MRI), entered into marketing, license and supply
agreements ("AVM Agreements”). Under the AVM Agreements,
Cytogen acquired certain United States' rights to Advanced
Magnetics' product candidates: Combidex® MRI contrast agent for
the detection of lymph node metastases (for all applications) and
imaging agent Code 7228 (for oncology applications only).
Advanced Magnetics will be responsible for all costs associated with
the clinical development, supply and manufacture of Combidex
and Code 7228 and will receive royalties based upon product sales.

In exchange for the future marketing rights to Combidex {for all
applications) and Code 7228 (for oncology applications only),
Cytogen issued 150,000 shares of its Common Stock to Advanced
Magnetics at closing and may issue an additional 50,000 shares,
which are currently in escrow, subject to the achievement of cer-
tain milestones. Of such 50,000 shares, 25,000 are being held in
escrow pending the achievement of certain milestones relating to
Combidex and 25,000 are being held in escrow pending the
achievement of certain milestones relating to Code 7228. Since
the Advanced Magnetics' product candidates have not yet received
FDA approval, the Company recorded a $13.2 million charge in
the 2000 consolidated statement of operations for the acquisition
of marketing and technology rights, of which $13.1 million was
non-cash and represented the fair value of the 150,000 shares of
Common Stock issued. There can be no assurance that Advanced
Magnetics will receive FDA approval to market Combidex or
Code 7228 for oncology applications in the United States. At this
time, Advanced Magnetics does not intend to develop Code 7228
for oncology imaging.

4. DRAXIMAGE INC.

In December 2000, the Company entered into a Product
Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with Draximage, Inc. to
market and distribute BrachySeed implants for prostate cancer
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therapy in the United States. Under the terms of the agreement,
Draximage supplied radioactive iodine and palladium seeds to
Cytogen in exchange for product transfer payments, royalty pay-
ments on sales and certain milestone payments. Cytogen paid
Draximage $500,000 upon execution of the contract in 2000,
$500,000 upon the first sale of the [odine-125 BrachySeeds in 2001
and $1.0 million related to the first sale of BrachySeed Pd-103 in
2002. These payments were recorded as other assets in the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheet for the respective period (see
Note 1) and were being amortized over the ten year term of the
Draximage Agreement. In January 2003, the Company served
notice of termination for each of its License and Distribution
Agreement and Product Manufacturing and Supply Agreement
with Draximage with respect to both the BrachySeed 1-125 and
BrachySeed Pd-103 products. As a result, effective January 24,
2003, the Company nc longer accepts or fills new orders for the
BrachySeed products. In 2002, the Company recorded a non-cash
charge of $1.7 million to write off the carrying values of the licensing
fees paid for BrachySeed [-125 and BrachySeed Pd-103. Prior to
the write-off of such licensing rights, amortization expense was
$174,000, $93,000 and $4,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The Company also recorded $503,000 and $113,000 in royalty
expense for 2002 and 2001, respectively.

5. ACQUISITION OF PROSTAGEN, INC.

Pursuant to a Stock Exchange Agreement ("Prostagen Agreement”)
related to the Company's acquisition of Prostagen Inc. (“Prostagen”)
in June 1999, the Company agreed to issue up to an additional
$4.0 million worth of Cytogen Common Stock to the sharehold-
ers and debtholders of Prostagen (the "Prostagen Partners"), if cer-
tain milestones are achieved in the dendritic cell therapy and
PSMA development programs. During 2002, the Company and
the Prostagen Partners agreed that a milestone was achieved based
on the progress of the dendritic cell prostate cancer clinical trials
at Northwest. As a result, the Company recorded a $2.0 million
charge to research and development expense which represented
the fair value of the 122,699 shares of Common Stock issued.
In May 2002, the Company entered into an addendum to the
Prostagen Agreement (the "Addendum”), which clarifies the future
milestone payments to be made under the Prostagen Agreement,
as well as the timing of such payments. Pursuant to the Addendum,
the Company may be obligated to pay two additional milestone
payments of $1.0 million each, upon the earlier of certain clinical
achievements regarding the PSMA development programs or
January 2003 and July 2003, respectively, provided that the
payments shall be due on these dates only if safety has been
established in a completed Phase [ clinical trial and the research
program on immunotherapy for prostate cancer is continuing
on such dates. Any future milestone payments are payable in
shares of Cytogen Common Stock. In addition, the Company
issued 5,000 shares of Common Stock to the Prostagen Partners
in 2002 upon the satisfactory termination of a lease obligation
originally assumed by the Company.

6. PROGEN!ICS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. JOINT VENTURE

In June 1999, Cytogen entered into a joint venture with Progenics,
PSMA Development Company LLC, (the "Joint Venture”), to
develop vaccine and antibody-based immunotherapeutic products
utilizing Cytogen's proprietary PSMA technology. The Joint
Venture is owned equally by Cytogen and Progenics. Through
November 2001, Progenics funded the first $3.0 million of devel-
opment costs of the Joint Venture. Beginning in December 2001,
the Company and Progenics began to equally share the future costs
of the Joint Venture. Cytogen has the exclusive North American
marketing rights for products developed by the Joint Venture.

The Company accounts for the Joint Venture using the equity
method of accounting. As discussed above, through November
2001, Progenics was obligated to fund the initial $3.0 million of
the development costs. Beginning in December 2001, Cytogen
began to recognize 50% of the Joint Venture's operating results,
expected to be losses, in its consolidated statement of operations.
For the year ended December 31, 2002, Cytogen recognized $2.9
million of these losses compared to $332,000 during the year
ended December 31, 2001. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
the carrying value of the Company's investment in the Joint
Venture was $1,000 and $588,000, respectively, which represents
Cytogen’s investment to date in the Joint Venture, less its cumula-
tive share of losses, which net investment is recorded in other
assets (see Note 1). Selected financial statement information of the
Joint Venture is as follows:

December 31,
2002 2001

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash oo $ 290,000 $1,010,000

Accounts payable ..... $ 304800 § 351,000
Capital contributions 11,399,000 6,799,000
Contribution receivable from Progenics..... - (500,000)
Accumulated deficit..................coo (11,413,000) (5,640,000)

$ 290,000 $1,010,000

For the
Period from
June 15, 1999
(Inception) to
For the Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000 2002

Interest

income ... $ 13000 $ 47000 § 96000 $ 229,000
Total

expenses... 5,786,000 2,623,000 1,085,000 11,642,000

Netloss......... $(5,773,800)  $(2,576,000) $ (989,000) $(11,413,000)




In connection with the licensing of the PSMA technology to the
Joint Venture in June 1999, Cytogen recognized approximately
$1.8 million in license fee revenue. In connection with the adoption
of SAB 101, effective January 1, 2000 (see Note 1), the Company
deferred approximately $1.5 million of this previously recognized
license fee and recognized $150,000, $599,000 and $599,000 of
the deferred revenue as license and contract revenue in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively. The remaining $125,000 of deferred rev-
enue will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated
remaining performance period of the development program.

7. THE DOW CHEMICAL COMPANY

In 1993, Cytogen acquired from The Dow Chemical Company an
exclusive license for the treatment of osteoblastic bone metastases
in the United States for Quadramet. This license was amended in
1995 and 1998 to expand the territory to include Canada, Latin
America, Europe and Japan, in 1996 to expand the field to include
all osteoblastic diseases, and in 1998 to include rheumatoid arthri-
tis. The agreement requires the Company to pay Dow royalties
based on a percentage of net sales of Quadramet, or a guaranteed
contractual minimum payments, whichever is greater, and future
payments upon achievement of certain milestones. The Company
recorded $1.0 million, $824,000 and $802,000 in royalty expense
for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Future annual minimum
royalties due to Dow are $1.0 million per year in 2003 through
2012 and $2.0 million in 2013.

8. REVEWNUES FROM MAJOR CUSTOMERS
Revenues from major customers (greater than 10%}) as a percentage
of total revenues were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Berlex Laboratories InC........oooooe oo, 16% 20% 22%
Mallinckrodt Medical Inc. .. 18 20 19
Medi-Physics. ..o 12 12 7
Syncor International Corporation .................. 9 11 i1

Mallinckrodt Medical Inc., Medi-Physics and Syncor International
Corporation are chains of radiopharmacies, which distribute
ProstaScint and OncoScint CR/OV kits.

Revenues from Berlex include the recognition of deferred revenue
following the adoption of SAB 101.

As of December 31, 2002, the receivables from four of the
Company's largest customers accounted for 57% of total accounts
receivable.

9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

December 31,

December 31, 2002 2001
Accounts payable............. $1,726,000  $1,166,000
Accrued payroll and related expenses ............ 298,000 989,000
Accrued research contracts and materials ... 238,000 831,000
Accrued commission and royalties................ 720,000 250,000
Accrued professional and legal...................... 518,000 1,061,000
Facility payable and accrued restructuring...... 130,000 462,000
Other accruals ..o 796,000 556,000

$4,427,000 $5,315,000

10. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

December 31,
2002 2001

Due to Elan Corporation, plc ...ooovcieviverinnn. $2,280,000 $2.,280,000
Capital lease obligations .........cccocoevieein 162,000 88,000
Lease obligation ..o 246,000 —
Other....ooooe e 6,000 —
2,694,000 2,368,000

Less: Current portion of long-term
Tabilities. ..o oo e (80,000) (77,000)

$2,614,000 $2,291,000

In August 1998, Cytogen received $2.0 million from Elan
Corporation, plc ("Elan") in exchange for a convertible promissory
note. The note is convertible into shares of Cytogen Common
Stock at $28 per share, subject to adjustments, and matures in
August 2005. The note bears annual interest of 7%, compounded
semi-annually, however, such interest was not payable in cash but
was added to the principal for the first 24 months; thereafter, interest
is payable in cash. In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded
$160,000, $160,000 and $141,000, respectively, in interest expense
on this note. The note contains certain non-financial covenants.

The Company leases certain equipment under capital lease obli-
gations, which will expire on various dates through 2005. Property
and equipment leased under non-cancellable capital leases have a
net book value of $159,000 at December 31, 2002. Payments to be
made under capital lease obligations (including total interest of
$9,000) are $86,000 in 2003, $79,000 in 2004 and $6,000 in 2005.

In an effort to reduce expenses and position Cytogen for
stronger long-term growth in oncology, the Company restructured
AxCell in September 2002 by reducing 75% of AxCell's workforce.
As a result, during 2002, the Company recorded a charge of
$869,000 related to employee severance costs, the impairment of
property and equipment and future rental payments on leased
facilities that will not be used in operations, which has been
included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2002,
the Company has accrued its obligations for future lease payments
of $322,000, of which $246,000 is long-term and will be paid
through 2006.

11. COMMON STOCK

In 2000, the Company sold 100,000 shares of Cytogen Common
Stock to Berlex for $1.0 million or consideration equal to $10.00
per share upon an exercise of a warrant and 166,000 additional
shares of Cytogen Common Stock for total proceeds of $3.5 million
at an average price of $21.20 per share upon the exercises of
employee stock options and other warrants.

In September 2000, the Company sold to Acqua Wellington
North American Equities Fund, Ltd., ("Acqua Wellington") 90,260
registered shares of Cytogen Common Stock at an aggregate price
of $6.0 million or consideration equal to $66.47 per share. In
October 2000, the Company entered into an equity financing
facility with Acqua Wellington for up to $70 million of Common
Stock. Under the terms of the agreement, Cytogen could, at its
discretion, sell shares of its Common Stock to Acqua Wellington
at a small discount to the market price. Pursuant to this Equity
Financing Facility, in February 2001, the Company sold to Acqua
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Wellington 127,656 shares of its Common Stock at an aggregate
price of $6.5 million or consideration equal to $50.92 per share.
The equity financing facility was terminated in June 2001,

In June 2001, the Company entered into a Share Purchase
Agreement with the State of Wisconsin Investment Board
("SWIB"), pursuant to which the Company sold 182,000 shares of
Cytogen Common Stock to SWIB for an aggregate purchase price
of $8.2 million, before transaction costs, or consideration equal
to $45.00 per share. In connection with the Share Purchase
Agreement, the Company was required to discontinue the use of
the Acqua Wellington equity financing facility and such agree-
ment was terminated.

$8.0 million, or consideration equal to $26.90 per share pursuant
to a January 2002 Share Purchase Agreement between SWIB and
the Company. In connection with our stock issuances to SWIB,
the Company agreed not to enter into equity line arrangements
in the future, issue certain securities at less than fair market value
or undertake certain other securities issuances without requisite
stockholder approval. The Company sold an additional 416,670
shares of its Common Stock to SWIB in June 2002 for an aggregate
purchase price of $5.0 million or consideration equal to $12.00
per share.

See Note 5 for information regarding Cytogen Common Stock
issued to the Prostagen Partners.

In January 2002, the Company sold 297,067 shares of Cytogen
Common Stock to SWIB for an aggregate purchase price of

12. STOCK GPTIONS

The Company has various stock option plans that provide for the issuance of incentive and non-qualified stock options to purchase Cytogen
Common Stock ("Cytogen Options”) to employees, non-employee directors and outside consultants, for which an aggregate of 607,889 shares
of Common Stock have been reserved, The persons to whom Cytogen Options may be granted and the number, type, and terms of the Cytogen
Options vary among the plans. Cytogen Options are granted with an exercise term of 10 years and generally become exercisable in instaliments
over periods of up to 5 years at an exercise price determined either by the plan or equal to the fair market value of the Cytogen Common Stock
at the date of grant. Under certain circumstances, vesting may accelerate. Activity under these plans was as follows:

Number of Price Weighted Average Aggregate
Cytogen Range Exercise Price - Exercise
Options Per Share Per Share Price
Balance at December 31, 1999, .. .. ... ... . 508,000 $ 7.00-166.30 $20.17 $10,248,263
Granted. .. ... 134,050 24.70-169.38 63.64 8,530,540
Exercised. . ... . . (134,344) 8.30-166.30 23.90 (3,210,282)
Cancelled . ... (38,077) 9.50-169.38 26.91 (1,024,568)
Balance at December 31,2000. .. . .. ... .. .. 469,629 7.00-169.38 30.97 14,543,953
Granted. . ... 74,736 25.60- 61.30 38.08 2,845,773
EXErCISed . - .o v oo (13,090) 7.00— 28.40 16.61 (217,478)
Cancelled . ... . . (37,027) 8.30-169.38 43.95 (1,627,480)
Balance at December 31,2001, ... ... .. ... 494 248 7.00-169.38 31.45 15,544,768
Granted. .. ... .. 102,063 3.48- 23.30 4.32 440,688
EXEICISEd .+ . o\ oot (905) 8.13— 20.00 18.87 (17,077)
Cancelled ... (123,300) 8.28-165.00 42.87 (5,285,848)
Balance at December 31,2002 ... . ... ... ... .. 472,106 $ 3.48-169.38 $22.63 $10,682,531

The following table summarizes information about Cytogen stock options at December 31, 2002:

Qutstanding Cytogen Stock Options Exercisable Cytogen Stock Options

Weighted Average
Range of Outstanding Remaining Weighted Average Exercisable Weighted Average
Exercise Prices Shares Contractual Life Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
$ 3.48- 1833 304,751 3.6 § 866 252,538 $ 941
18.34— 36.66 95,669 5.8 27.37 75,939 26.04
36.67— 5499 24,220 6.4 47.38 14,796 46.80
55.00- 73.32 11,383 7.1 58.40 10,558 58.25
73.33— 91.65 2,550 4.1 78.23 2,430 77.67
91.66—109.98 33,333 0.2 101.41 33,333 101.41
164.97—169.38 200 7.2 169.38 140 169.38
$ 3.48-169.38 472,106 4.1 $ 22.63 389,734 $ 2375




At December 31, 2002, Cytogen Options to purchase 389,734
shares of Cytogen Common Stock were exercisable and 68,510
shares of Cytogen Common Stock were available for issuance
under approved plans of additional options that may be granted
under the plans.

Included in the above tables is an option granted to a key
employee in 1998 to purchase 135,000 shares of Cytogen
Common Stock ("Performance Options”), at an exercise price of
$10.94 per share. The vesting of Performance Options were subject
to the completion of certain performance based milestones as
determined by the Board of Directors {the “Board"). The Company
recorded approximately $1.1 million of deferred compensation
upon the commencement of the vesting of the Performance
Options, which represented the fair market value of Cytogen's
Common Stock in excess of the exercise price of the option on the
date which the Board determined the performance milestones had
been met. Deferred compensation was amortized over the three-year
vesting period of the Performance Options. Upon the resignation
of the key employee in December 2002, $354,000 of the deferred
compensation related to unvested options was reversed.

Not included in the above table are options to purchase 150,000
shares of our common stock granted in 2002 to our executive offi-
cer outside any of the Company’s approved stock option plans, at
an exercise price of $3.54 per share. This option has three separate
and equal tranches which will each vest based upon the achieve-
ment of certain milestones that will be established by the
Company's Board of Directors. If the fair market value of the com-
mon stock is greater than the exercise price of the option when
such milestones are met, the Company will record compensation
expense to be recognized over the vesting period of such options,
which will be established by the Board of Directors.

AxCell, a subsidiary of Cytogen Corporation, also has a stock
option plan that provides for the issuance of incentive and non-
qualified stock options to purchase AxCell Common Stock
("AxCell Options”) to employees, for which 2,000,000 shares of
AxCell common stock have been reserved. In 2002, the Company
granted 20,000 shares of AxCell Common Stock to members of
AxCell's Scientific Advisory Board. The Company recorded $93,000
of expense related to these grants, based upon the estimated fair
value of those shares on the date of grant. As of December 31,
2002, 8,035,000 shares of AxCell Common Stock are outstanding,
8,000,000 of which are held by Cytogen. AxCell options are
granted with an exercise term of 10 years and generally become
exercisable in installments over periods of up to 5 years. The
Company granted AxCell Options to purchase 183,035, 438,365
and 0 shares of AxCell Common Stock during 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The weighted average exercise price per share
for all outstanding options was $3.52 in 2002 and $3.69 in 2001.
As of December 31, 2002, options to purchase 190,531 shares of
AxCell Common Stock were outstanding, of which 85,537 shares
were exercisable and 1,794,469 shares were available for future
grant. During 2001, in connection with the grant of AxCell Options,
the Company recorded deferred compensation of $241,000, repre-
senting the estimated fair value of AxCell Common Stock in
excess of the exercise price of the options on the date such options
were granted. The deferred compensation is being amortized over

the vesting period of the options. Due to employee terminations,
primary as a result of the restructuring at AxCell, $79,000 of
deferred compensation related to unvested options was reversed.

The Company adopted an employee stock purchase plan under
which eligible employees may elect to purchase shares of Cytogen
Common Stock at the lower of 85% of fair market value as of the
first trading day of each quarterly participation period, or as of the
last trading day of each quarterly participation period. In 2002,
2001 and 2000, employees purchased 4,911, 1,287 and 3,239
shares, respectively, for aggregate proceeds of $24,000, $28,000
and $80,000, respectively. The Company has reserved 30,639
shares for future issuance under its employee stock purchase plan.

The weighted average fair value of the options granted under
the Cytogen stock option plans during 2002, 2001 and 2000 is
estimated as $3.70, $30.74 and $54.01 per option, respectively, on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following assumptions for 2002, 2001 and 2000: dividend
yield of zero, volatility of 143.46%, 124.95% and 120.39%,
respectively, risk-free interest rate of 2.94%, 4.55% and 5.98%,
respectively, and an expected life ranging from 4 to 5 years.
The average fair value per option ascribed to the employee stock
purchase plan during 2002, 2001 and 2000 is estimated at $5.72,
$14.73 and $13.53, respectively, on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the foliowing
assumptions for 2002, 2001 and 2000: dividend yield of zero,
volatility of 20.83%, 125.41% and 109.83%, respectively, risk-free
interest rate of 1.67%, 4.12% and 5.52%, respectively, and
expected life of three months. The weighted average fair value of
AxCell Options granted during 2002 and 2001 is estimated
at $4.16 and $4.06, respectively, on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions for
2002 and 2001: dividend yield of zero, volatility of 142.07% and
124.91%, respectively, risk-free interest rate of 4.02% and 4.59%,
respectively, and an expected life of 5 years.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has outstanding war-
rants to purchase 32,363 shares of Common Stock, at exercise
prices ranging from $16.25 to $49.80 per share. The warrants are
exercisable through November 2004.

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Consulting services have been provided to the Company under
an agreement with the Chairman of the Board of Directors related
to time spent in that function on Company matters. Fees and
expenses under this agreement were $52,000, $53,000 and
$54,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

14. RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

The Company maintains a defined contribution plan for its
employees. The contribution is determined by the Board of
Directors each year and is based upon a percentage of gross wages
of eligible employees. The plan provides for vesting over four
years, with credit given for prior service. The Company also
makes contributions under a 401{k) plan in amounts which match
up to 50% of the salary deferred by the participants. Matching is
capped at 6% of deferred salaries. Total expense was $98,000,
$140,000 and $95,000 for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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15. INCOWME TAXES

As of December 31, 2002, Cytogen had federal net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $264 million. The Company
also had federal and state research and development tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $7.1 million. These net operating
loss and credit carryforwards have begun to expire and will con-
tinue to expire through 2022. In addition, certain operating loss
and credit carryforwards began to expire in 1995.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains provisions that limit the
utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards if
there has been an "ownership change.” Such an “ownership
change,” as described in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code,
may limit the Company’s utilization of its net operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amount used for income
tax purposes. Based on the Company's net loss before income taxes
during 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company would have recorded a
tax benefit. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, there were increases of
$3,529,000, $6,926,000 and $8,880,000, respectively in the valua-
tion allowance, due to the Company’s loss history and uncertainty
regarding the realization of deferred tax assets. These increases to
the valuation allowance reduced the actual benefit to zero.
Deferred tax assets have been fully reserved as of December 31,
2002 and 2001.

A portion of the Company's net operating loss carryforward
relates to tax deductions from stock option exercises and disqualify-
ing dispositions that would be accounted for as capital contributions
for financial reporting purposes to the extent such deductions
could be utilized by the Company.

2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards ..... $ 89,859,000 $ 81,860,000

Capitalized research and
development expenses................. 7,395,000 11,808,000
Research and development credit ... 7,075,000 6,800,000

Acquisition of in-process
technology ..o 877,000 720,000
Other, net ..o 9,148,000 9,738,000
Total deferred tax assets.......... 114,455,000 110,926,000
Valuation allowance ............. (114,455,000) (110,926,000)

$ — S —

Net deferred tax assets ...

In 1995, Cytogen acquired CytoRad and Cellcor, both of which
had net operating loss carryforwards. Due to Section 382 limitations,
approximately $10 million of CytoRad and $12.0 million of
Cellicor carryforwards may be available to offset future taxable
income. A full valuation allowance was established on the acquisition
dates as realization of these tax assets is uncertain.

During 2001 and 2000, the Company sold New Jersey State
operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits,
resulting in the recognition of a $1.1 million and $1.6 million tax
benefit, respectively. In addition, in January 2003, the Company
sold additional New Jersey State net operating loss carryforwards
which will result in $584,000 of income tax benefits, which will be
recorded during the first quarter of 2003.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under
non-cancellable operating leases that expire at various times through
2006. Rent expense on these leases was $832,000, $1.6 million and
$1.3 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Minimum
future obligations under the operating leases are $1.8 million as of
December 31, 2002 and will be paid as follows: $837,000 in 2003,
$616,000 in 2004, $291,000 in 2005 and $103,000 in 2006. In addi-
tion, the Company has an agreement to receive annual sublease
income of $54,000 in 2003, 2004 and 2005 and $36,000 in 2006.

The Company is obligated to make minimum future payments
under manufacturing and research and development contracts that
expire at various times. As of December 31, 2002, the minimum
future payments under contracts are $1.3 million in 2003, $197,000
in 2004 and $130,000 each year from 2005 to 2018. In addition, the
Company is obligated to pay milestone payments upon achievement
of certain milestones and royalties on revenues from commercial
product sales including certain guaranteed minimum payments.

In subsequent periods, we expect to provide funding for the
development of the PSMA technologies through our joint venture
with Progenics at even higher levels than the current year.
Such funding amount may vary dependent upon, among other
things, the results of the clinical trials and research and develop-
ment activities, competitive and technological developments, and
market opportunities.

On March 17, 2000, Cytogen was served with a complaint filed
against the Company in the United States Federal Court for the
District of New Jersey by M. David Goldenberg {(“Goldenberg”)
and Immunomedics, Inc. (collectively “Plaintiffs”). The litigation
claims that ProstaScint infringes a patent purportedly owned by
Goldenberg and licensed to Immunomedics. The Company
believes that ProstaScint does not infringe this patent, and that the
patent is invalid and unenforceable. The patent sought to be
enforced in the litigation has now expired; as a result, the claim
even if successful would not result in an injunction barring the
continued sale of ProstaScint or affect any other of Cytogen'’s
products or technology. In addition, the Company has certain
rights to indemnification against litigation and litigation expenses
from the inventor of technology used in ProstaScint, which may
be offset against royalty payments on sales of ProstaScint. On
December 17, 2001, Cytogen filed a motion for summary judg-
ment of non-infringement of the asserted claims of the patent-in-
suit. The Plaintiffs opposed that motion and filed their own
cross-motion for summary judgment of infringement. On July 3,
2002, the Court denied both parties’ summary judgment motions,
with leave to renew those motions after presenting expert testimony
and legal argument based upon that testimony. Subsequently, the
Court heard expert testimony and further argument, and received
further briefing, and the parties’ renewed summary judgment
motions are pending. The Court has not indicated when it expects
to issue a ruling. However, given the uncertainty associated with
litigation, the Company cannot give any assurance that the litiga-
tion could not result in a material expenditure to the Company.




17. CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA—UNAUDITED
The following table provides quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sepi. 30, Dec. 31,

{Amounts in thousands except per share data) 2002 2002 2002 2002
TOTAL FEVEMUES ... oo oo e e e e et e et e ettt $ 3,296 $3,167 $3,101 $ 3,367
TOtal OPETATIIE EXPEMSES ...ttt ettt ettt etk 8,329 6,404 6,588 6,894
OIPETALING 0SS .1 et et et (5,033) (3,237) (3,487) (3,527}
OhEr INCOME (108S), MEE .ottt e ettt etk ee et 35 30 {484) 4
INEE TS5 oo e et e e et et e $(4,998) §(3,207)  $(3,971)  $(3,523)
Basic and diluted net [oss per Share ... $ (0.62) $(0.39) $ (0.46) $ (0.40)
Weighted average common share oUESTaNAiNg...........ooviii oottt et et e e 8,122 8,308 8,660 8,758
Product-related gross Margin ... e $ 2,027 $1,861 $1,882 $1,950

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30,  Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

(Amounts in thousands except per share data) 2001 2001 2001 2001
TOtR TEVENUES ..o oo e e e e et $3,014 $2,856 $2821 $ 3,066
Total OPErating EXPENSES....cuov ettt ettt e 5,840 6,053 6,718 7,206
O DETALINE 1088 ..ot e e e e (2,826) (3,197) (3,897) (4,140)
ORET INCOMIE, MEL..... oot e e e e e e e et 172 112 118 455
L0SS DEfOTE INCOME TAXES ......oiiiiiiiiee e e et (2,654) (3,085) (3,779) (3,685)
Income tax Benefit ..o e — — — (1,103)
N LOSS ..o e e e e e e e e e $(2,654)  $(3,085)  $(3,779) $(2,582)
Basic and diluted net 108 PEr ShaT€ .......ooov oo e $ (035 $(0.40) $ (0.48) $ (0.33)
Weighted average common share OULSTANAING ............ocoiiiiiiii oottt 7,624 7,744 7,887 7,890
Product-related gross Margin ..o e e e $ 1,624 $1,955 $1,175 $1,875

18. MATRITECH, INC.

In October 2002, the Company entered into a five-year agree-
ment with Matritech Inc. to be the sole distributor for Matritech’s
NMP22 BladderChek test to urologists and oncologists in the
United States. Retention of exclusivity rights depends upon meet-
ing certain minimum annual purchases. NMP22 BladderChek is a
point-of-care antibody-based diagnostic test for bladder cancer

detection. During November 2002, the Company began promot-
ing NMP22 BladderChek to urologists in the United States using
its in-house sales force. The Company paid Matritech $150,000
upon the execution of the agreement, which was recorded as other
assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and is
being amortized over the five-year estimated performance period
of the agreement.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

Information regarding the Company's former accountants, Arthur
Andersen LLP, was previously reported by the Company on: (i) a
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 20, 2002, and an amendment thereto filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2002,
and (ii) a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 24, 2002.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Cytogen Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
of Cytogen Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockhold-
ers' equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. -

Our responsibility is ta express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements
of PSMA Development Company LLC (a development stage
enterprise), a 50% owned unconsolidated investee company. The
Company's equity interest in the loss of PSMA Development
Company LLC was $2.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2002. The financial statements of PSMA Development Company
L.LC were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished
to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included
for PSMA Development Company LLC, is based solely on the
report of the other auditors. The consolidated financial statements
of Cytogen Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001
and for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31,
2001, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations.
Those auditors report dated February 5, 2002 on those consoli-
dated financial statements was unqualified before the restatement
described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, and
included an explanatory paragraph that described the change in
Cytogen Corporation’s method of accounting for revenue recogni-
tion discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the account-
ing principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit and the report of other
auditors provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other audi-
tors, the 2002 consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Cytogen Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of
Cytogen Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001
and for each of the years in the two-year period ended December
31, 2001, were audited by other auditors who have ceased opera-
tions. As described in Note 1, the Company implemented a
reverse stock split in 2002, and the number of shares and per share
amounts in the accompanying 2001 and 2000 consolidated finan-
cial statements have been restated to refiect such reverse stock
split. We audited the adjustments that were applied to restate the
number of shares and per share amounts reflected in the 2001 and
2000 consolidated financial statements for the reverse stock split.
In our opinton, such adjustments are appropriate and have been
properly applied. However, we were not engaged to audit, review
or apply any procedures to the 2001 and 2000 consolidated finan-
cial statements of Cytogen Corporation and subsidiaries, other
than with respect to such adjustments and , accordingly, we do not
express an opinion or any form of assurance on the 2001 and 2000
consolidated financial statements taken a whole.

P, e

Princeton, New Jersey
January 31, 2003




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

THE FOLLOWING IS A COPY OF A REPORT ISSUED BY ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP, AND INCLUDED IN CYTOCEN CORPORATION'S
2001 ANNUAL REPORT. THIS REPORT HAS NOT BEEN REISSUED BY ARTHUR ANDERSEN, AND ARTHUR ANDERSEN HAS NOT
CONSENTED TO ITS USE IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT. ALl NUMBERS SET FORTH IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT REFLECT THE
EFFECT OF A ONE-FOR-TEN REVERSE STOCK SPLIT EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 25, 2002.

To Cytogen Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Cytogen Corporation (a Delaware Corporation) and Subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001
and 2000 and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States.

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
effective January 1, 2000, the Company changed its method of
accounting for revenue recognition.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 5, 2002



MARKET FOR THE COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Cytogen Corporation and Subsidiaries

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market®
under the trading symbol "CYTO."

The table below sets forth the high and low bid information for
our common stock for each of the calendar quarters indicated, as
reported on the Nasdaq National Market. Such quotations reflect
inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commis-
sion, may not represent actual transactions and have been adjusted
to reflect the Company’s one-for-ten reverse stock split executed
October 25, 2002.

2001 High Low

First QUarter..........oovooiiieoee oo $6531 $23.13
Second QUATLEr ........oiiieier oo 60.90 21.88
Third Quarter 53.80 19.00
Fourth Quarter 44.60 20.50
2002 High Low

First QUaner ... $34.40  $21.18
Second Quarier 22.00 9.18
Third QUarter..............cci 11.00 3.10
Fourth Quarter ... 8.40 3.30

As of March 1, 2003, there were approximately 960 holders of
record of our common stock and there were approximately 43,515
beneficial holders of our common stock.

NOTE:

On October 25, 2002, we received approval from our stock-
holders at a duly called and held special meeting of stockholders
to effect a reverse split of our common stock. Qur Board of
Directors thereafter approved a one-for-ten reverse split of our
outstanding, issued and authorized shares of common stock, which
became effective on Cctober 25, 2002. All numbers set forth in
this report reflect the effect of such one-for-ten reverse stock split.

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock
and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. We intend to retain any future
earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. Any
future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of
the Board of Directors.

Mr. Becker joined the Company in April 2001 and was pro-
moted to President and Chief Executive Officer in December
2002. In connection with such promotion, Mr. Becker was granted
options to purchase 200,000 shares of our common stock under
our 1995 Plan, 50,000 of which remain subject to availability
under the 1995 plan option pool or stockholder approval of an
increase in such option pool. The exercise price per share of
such options is $3.54, the fair market value of our common stock
on the date of grant. 50,000 of such options vested immediately
upon grant, and the remaining 150,000 options will vest in three
equal tranches of 50,000, based upon Mr. Becker's achievement
of certain performance based milestones established by the Board
of Directors.

We believe that the issuance of the options to Mr. Becker was
exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, as a transaction not involving any public offering.

ProstaScint® and OncoScint® are registered United States
trademarks of Cytogen Corporation. All other trade names, trade-
marks or service marks contained in this report are the property of
their respective owners, and not the property of Cytogen
Corporation or any of our subsidiaries. Quadramet® is a trademark
of The Dow Chemical Company used under license by Cytogen.
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